

TITLE 209: DIVISION OF BANKS
CHAPTER 42.00: THE LICENSING OF MORTGAGE LENDERS
AND MORTGAGE BROKERS

42.01: Purpose and Scope

The purpose of *209 CMR 42.00* is to establish procedures and requirements for the licensing and supervision of mortgage lenders and brokers under the provisions of M.G.L. c. 255E. Nothing contained in *209 CMR 42.00* shall limit the ability of the Commissioner to consider other information in determining whether or not to approve an application, or to require information in addition to that required by the application form provided to the applicant.

42.02: Definitions

As used in *209 CMR 42.00* the following words shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

Applicant. Any mortgage lender or mortgage broker who is required to be licensed under the provisions of *M.G.L. c. 255E, § 2*. The term shall include partners or members, if the applicant is a partnership or association, and officers, directors and principal employees, if the applicant is a corporation.

Commissioner, the Commissioner of Banks.

Licensee, any person who is licensed by the Commissioner as a mortgage lender or mortgage broker under *M.G.L. c. 255E* and *209 CMR 42.00*.

Mortgage Broker, any person who for compensation or gain, or in the expectation of compensation or gain, directly or indirectly negotiates, places, assists in placement, finds or offers to negotiate, place, assist in placement or find mortgage loans on residential property for others.

Mortgage Lender, any person engaged in the business of making mortgage loans, or issuing commitments for mortgage loans.

Mortgage Loan, a loan to a natural person made primarily for personal, family or household purposes secured wholly or partially by a mortgage on residential property.

Mortgage Loan Rate Lock Commitment, a written or electronically transmitted confirmation issued to a consumer by a mortgage lender for a mortgage loan which, subject to the terms set forth therein, obligates the mortgage lender to make a mortgage loan at a specified interest rate.

Net Worth, the applicant's or licensee's total assets less total liabilities, omitting the following assets:

- (a) that portion of an applicant's assets pledged to secure obligations of any person or entity other than that of the applicant;
- (b) any asset due from officers or stockholders of the applicant or persons in which the applicant's officers or

stockholders have an interest;

(c) an amount in excess of the lower of the cost or fair market value of mortgage loans in foreclosure, or real property acquired through foreclosure;

(d) an investment shown on the balance sheet in joint ventures, subsidiaries, or affiliates, which is greater than the fair market value of the assets;

(e) goodwill or value placed on insurance renewals or other similar intangible value;

(f) organization costs;

(g) the value of servicing contracts not determined in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board's ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 65, "Accounting for Certain Mortgage Banking Activities", and any subsequent revisions thereto;

~~(h) for an applicant that is applying to hold the mortgage broker or mortgage lender license as a natural person, any real property having thereon a dwelling house with accommodations for four or less separate households and occupied, or to be occupied, in whole or in part by the applicant; and~~

~~(i) any other intangible asset, as may be determined by the Commissioner.~~

Person, a natural person or an organization including a corporation, partnership, association, cooperative or trust.

Rate Lock Commitment Fee, points or other fees, or discounts taken by a mortgage broker for transmittal to a mortgage lender or taken directly by a mortgage lender as consideration for the making of a mortgage loan rate lock commitment.

Residential Property, real property located in the commonwealth having thereon a dwelling house with accommodations for four or less separate households and occupied, or to be occupied, in whole or in part by the obligor on the mortgage debt.

42.03: Application Procedure - Mortgage Lenders

(1) Application. Each Applicant for a license as a mortgage lender shall submit a written application on a form prescribed by the Commissioner, signed under the pains and penalties of perjury, containing such information as the Commissioner may from time to time require.

(2) License Requirements. An Applicant shall be required to submit detailed information supporting the following general requirements:

(a) Financial responsibility. An Applicant shall demonstrate and maintain:

1. a net worth of not less than \$ 200,000;

~~2. a bond in a sum to be based on the amount of the Applicant's aggregate mortgage loans, as determined by the Commissioner, but in no event shall the sum of the bond be less than \$100,000, up to a maximum of \$500,000; provided that the sum of such bond may be increased by the Commissioner at any time to such amount, up to the \$500,000 maximum, as shall be shown to be necessary. The surety bond must contain a clause that the insurance company will notify the Commissioner at least 30 days prior to canceling the surety bond for any reason. The Commissioner shall automatically suspend the license on the date the cancellation takes effect, unless the surety bond has been replaced or renewed; and~~

~~3. the bond required under 209 CMR 42.03(2)(a)2 shall be filed with the State Treasurer and Receiver General.~~

~~An Applicant shall provide the Commissioner with evidence of its financial responsibility and submit a sworn statement which states that the Applicant meets the foregoing requirements.~~

Deleted: and

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Before: 0 pt, After: 0 pt, No widow/orphan control, Don't hyphenate

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt, Complex Script Font: Times New Roman, 11 pt

Deleted:

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line: 0 pt, Space Before: 0 pt, No widow/orphan control, Don't hyphenate

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Deleted: l

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Deleted: ,

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Deleted: or

Deleted: and

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Deleted: 5

Formatted: Font: Times New

Deleted: a combination of a net worth of not less than \$ 25,000 and a bond of up to \$ 75,000 in such form and with such sureties as may be approved by the Commissioner, provided such net worth and bond in the aggregate equal or exceed \$ 100,000.3

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted ... [1]

Formatted ... [2]

Formatted ... [3]

Deleted: T

Deleted: ¶

(b) Financial statements. An Applicant shall submit financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles meeting the following minimum requirements:

1. Contents. The financial statements required by this subparagraph shall include, but are not limited to, a Balance Sheet, Income Statement and Statement of Cash Flows, and all relevant notes thereto.
2. Initial Application. An Applicant under this subpart shall submit audited financial statements for the preceding fiscal year and such other financial information as the Commissioner may require.
3. Renewal Applications. ~~Within 90 days of the close of its fiscal year, an Applicant for license renewal shall submit financial statements for the preceding fiscal year that have been audited by an independent certified public accountant and such other financial information as the Commissioner may require.~~
4. Audit Scope. All financial statements shall be audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.

(c) Character and Fitness. An Applicant shall submit information demonstrating that the Applicant possesses the character, reputation, integrity and fitness to engage in the business of a mortgage lender in an honest, fair, sound and efficient manner.

(d) Business Experience. An Applicant shall demonstrate to the Commissioner's satisfaction that the Applicant, and its applicable officers and employees, possess the necessary educational and business experience to engage in the business of a mortgage lender.

(e) Other information. An Applicant shall submit such other information as the Commissioner may deem necessary to properly evaluate an application.

Deleted: A

Deleted: having gross revenues in excess of \$200,000 shall submit audited financial statements within 75 days of the close of its fiscal year. If audited statements were not prepared and an Applicant has gross annual revenues of less than \$200,000, such Applicant shall submit financial statements within 75 days of the close of its fiscal year, signed under the pains and penalties of perjury, and such other financial information as the Commissioner may require, provided, however, that such Applicant shall submit audited financial statements for every third year following the issuance of the Applicant's initial license.

42.04: Licensing Standards - Mortgage Lenders

(1) A license to engage in the business of a mortgage lender will be issued to an Applicant if the Commissioner, upon review of the application and all other relevant information, determines that all of the requirements of *M.G.L. c. 255E, §§ 3 and 4* and *209 CMR 42.03* have been met.

(2)(a) The Commissioner may deny an application to engage in the business of a mortgage lender, if the Commissioner upon review of the application and any other relevant information, determines that the Applicant has not satisfied the requirements of *M.G.L. c. 255E, §§ 3 and 4* or *209 CMR 42.03*.

(b) The Commissioner may also deny such an application if the Applicant has:

1. violated any provision of *M.G.L. c. 255E* or *209 CMR 42.00*;
2. violated or engaged in a pattern of violations of any state or federal law applicable to the conduct of the business of a mortgage lender, including, but not limited to, *M.G.L. chs. 93A, 140, 140D, 183, or 184* and any rule, regulation or administrative order or directive promulgated thereunder;
3. conducted, or will conduct, its business in an unsafe and unsound manner; or
4. engaged in conduct which has resulted in the suspension or revocation of its license to engage in the business of a mortgage lender by the licensing authority of any other state.

(3) An Applicant whose application has been denied under *209 CMR 42.04(2)* may appeal the Commissioner's action under *M.G.L. c. 255E § 4*.

(4) A person licensed as a mortgage broker under *209 CMR 42.06* through *42.08* may also be licensed as a mortgage lender under *29 CMR 42.03* through *42.05*, provided, however, that such Licensee shall be prohibited from acting as a mortgage broker in any transaction in which the Licensee is acting as a mortgage lender.

42.05: Licensing of Certain Otherwise Exempt Entities

A subsidiary or affiliate of a bank, trust company, savings bank, savings and loan association, credit union or insurance company organized under the laws of any other state or of a bank holding company established in accordance with state or federal law shall be subject to the mortgage lender licensing and other provisions

of M.G.L. c. 255E and 209 CMR 42.00.

42.06: Application Procedure

(1) Application. Each Applicant for a license as a mortgage broker shall submit a written application on a form prescribed by the Commissioner, signed under the pains and penalties of perjury, containing such information as the Commissioner may from time to time require.

(2) License Requirements. An Applicant shall be required to submit detailed information supporting the following general requirements:

(a) Financial responsibility. An Applicant shall demonstrate and maintain:

- 1. a net worth of not less than \$25,000;
- 2. a bond of \$75,000 in such form and with such sureties as may be approved by the Commissioner. The surety bond must contain a clause that the insurance company will notify the Commissioner at least 30 days prior to canceling the surety bond for any reason. The Commissioner shall automatically suspend the license on the date the cancellation takes effect, unless the surety bond has been replaced or renewed; and
- 3. the bond required under 209 CMR 42.06(2)(a)2 shall be filed with the State Treasurer and Receiver General.

An Applicant shall provide the Commissioner with evidence of its financial responsibility and submit a sworn statement which states that the Applicant meets the foregoing requirements.

(b) Financial statements. An Applicant shall submit financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles meeting the following minimum requirements:

- 1. Contents. The financial statements required by this subparagraph shall include, but are not limited to, a Balance Sheet, Income Statement, and Statement of Cash Flows, and all relevant notes thereto.
- 2. Initial Application. An Applicant under this subpart shall submit financial statements for the preceding fiscal year that have been audited or reviewed by an independent certified public accountant and such other financial information as the Commissioner may require.
- 3. Renewal Applications. Within 90 days of the close of its fiscal year, an Applicant for license renewal shall submit financial statements for the preceding fiscal year that have been audited or reviewed by an independent certified public accountant and such other financial information as the Commissioner may require.
- 4. Scope. All financial statements shall be audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards or reviewed in accordance with the Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).

(c) Character and Fitness. An Applicant shall submit information demonstrating that the Applicant possesses the character, reputation, integrity and fitness to engage in the business of a mortgage broker in an honest, fair, sound and efficient manner.

(d) Business Experience. An Applicant shall demonstrate to the Commissioner's satisfaction that the Applicant, and its applicable officers and employees, possess the necessary educational and business experience to engage in the business of a mortgage broker.

(e) Other information. An Applicant shall submit such other information the Commissioner may deem necessary to properly evaluate an application.

42.07: Licensing Standards

(1) A license to engage in the business of mortgage broker will be issued to an Applicant if the Commissioner, upon review of the application and all other relevant information, determines that all of the requirements of M.G.L. c. 255E, §§ 3 and 4 and 209 CMR 42.06 have been met.

Deleted: ¶
1.

Deleted: as a mortgage broker under this subpart

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line: 0 pt, Space Before: 0 pt, No widow/orphan control, Don't hyphenate

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: i.

Deleted: and

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ii.

Deleted: ; such bond shall be filed with the State Treasurer and Receiver General

Deleted: provide the Commissioner with evidence of its financial responsibility and submit a sworn statement which states that the Applicant meets the foregoing requirement.¶

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Deleted: 2.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line: 0 pt, Space Before: 0 pt, No widow/orphan control, Don't hyphenate

Deleted:

Deleted: ¶
If audited financial statements were not prepared,

Deleted: an Applicant

Deleted: financial statements

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Deleted: within 75 days of the close of its fiscal year, signed under the pains and penalties of perjury, and such other financial information as the Commissioner may require. Revisi... [4]

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ... [5]

Formatted ... [6]

(2)(a) The Commissioner may deny an application to engage in the business of a mortgage broker, if the Commissioner upon review of the application and other relevant information, determines that the Applicant has not satisfied the requirements of M.G.L. c. 255E or 209 CMR 42.06.

(b) The Commissioner may also deny such an application if the Applicant has:

1. violated any provision of M.G.L. c. 255E or 209 CMR 42.00;
2. violated or engaged in a pattern of violations of any state or federal law applicable to the conduct of the business of a mortgage broker, including, but not limited to, M.G.L. chs. 93A, 112, § 87RR, 140, 140D, 183, or 184 and any rule, regulation or administrative order or directive promulgated thereunder;
3. conducted, or will conduct, its business in an unsafe and unsound manner; or
4. engaged in conduct which has resulted in the suspension or revocation of its license to engage in the business of a mortgage broker by the licensing authority of this or any other state.

(3) An Applicant whose application has been denied under 209 CMR 42.07(2) may appeal the Commissioner's action under M.G.L. c. 255E, § 4.

(4) A person licensed as a mortgage lender under 209 CMR 42.03 through 42.05 may also be licensed as a mortgage broker under 209 CMR 42.06 through 42.08, provided, however, that such Licensee shall be prohibited from acting as a mortgage lender in any transaction in which the Licensee is acting as a mortgage broker.

42.08: Licensing of Certain Otherwise Exempt Entities

A subsidiary or affiliate of a bank, trust company, savings bank, savings and loan association, credit union or insurance company organized under the laws of any other state or of a bank holding company established in accordance with state or federal law shall be subject to the mortgage broker licensing and other provisions of M.G.L. c. 255E and 209 CMR 42.00.

42.08A: Minimum Financial Responsibility and Net Worth

(1) The financial responsibility and net worth requirements set out in 209 CMR 42.03(2)(a); 209 CMR 42.06(2)(a) and 209 CMR 42.11A are minimum acceptable standards for a Licensee whose overall financial condition is fundamentally sound, which is well managed and which has no material or significant financial weaknesses. Thus, the Commissioner is not precluded from requiring a Licensee to maintain a higher net worth based on the Licensee's particular risk profile. Where the Commissioner reasonably determines, as a result of an examination/inspection under M.G.L. c. 255E, § 8, the financial history or condition, managerial resources and/or active earnings prospects of a Licensee are not adequate, or where a Licensee has sizeable off-balance sheet or funding risks, excessive interest rate risk exposure, or a significant volume of classified or criticized assets, the Commissioner may prescribe a minimum net worth for a Licensee that is greater than the minimums specified in 209 CMR 42.03(2)(a); 209 CMR 42.06(2)(a) and 209 CMR 42.11A.

(2) The amount and time frames for attaining a higher net worth prescribed under 209 CMR 42.08(A) shall be set forth in either: (a) a corporate resolution executed by the Licensee and approved by the Commissioner; (b) a written Memorandum of Understanding or other agreement between the licensee and the Commissioner; or (c) as a provision in a temporary or permanent Cease and Desist Order issued pursuant to M.G.L. c. 255E, § 7.

(3) The maintenance of the minimum financial responsibility and net worth standards specified under 209 CMR 42.08A shall be a requirement for continued licensure under M.G.L. c. 255E, § 2 and 209 CMR 42.00. Failure to meet and maintain such minimum standards may constitute grounds for the issuance of a cease and desist order under M.G.L. c. 255E, § 7 and may also constitute grounds for license suspension or revocation under M.G.L. c. 255E, § 6.

42.09: Books and Records

(1) Each Licensee shall keep and use its books, records and accounts in a manner which will allow the Commissioner to determine whether the Licensee is complying with the provisions of M.G.L. c. 255E and applicable state and federal laws and regulations. Each Licensee shall comply with the provisions of *209 CMR 48.00*. The following records shall be maintained:

(a) Mortgage Lenders. Each mortgage lender required to be licensed by *M.G.L. c. 255E, § 2* and *209 CMR 42.05* shall retain for a minimum of three years after final payment is made on any mortgage loan or the mortgage loan is sold, whichever occurs first, copies of the note, settlement statement, truth-in-lending disclosure, correspondence, papers or records relating to the loan and such other documents as the Commissioner may require.

(b) Mortgage Brokers. Each mortgage broker required to be licensed by *M.G.L. c. 255E, § 2* and *209 CMR 42.08* shall retain for a minimum of three years after a mortgage loan is made the following: the original loan origination and compensation agreement as set out in *209 CMR 42.16*; a copy of the settlement statement; an account of fees received in connection with the loan; correspondence; papers or records relating to the loan; and such other documents as the Commissioner may require.

(2) A Licensee who does not maintain an office in the Commonwealth and whose principal place of business is located outside of the Commonwealth may designate a resident agent within the Commonwealth for the purpose of complying with *209 CMR 42.09*. The appointment of a resident agent shall require the prior approval of the Commissioner and shall be subject to such terms and conditions as the Commissioner may require from time to time.

(3) Every Licensee shall preserve its books and records for inspection for a minimum of three years. The Commissioner may also prescribe the extent to which such books, records and accounts shall be audited. Additional audits by independent certified public accountants shall be conducted whenever the Commissioner deems it expedient. Said audits shall be submitted to the Commissioner immediately upon completion. The cost of all such audits shall be borne by the Licensee.

(4) In addition to the reports required by law, a Licensee shall make such other statements and reports to the Commissioner as he or she may require from time to time. The Commissioner may require regular quarterly reports and may furnish blank forms for all such statements or reports, required by *209 CMR 42.09*.

(5) Every mortgage broker or mortgage lender shall maintain a copy of each separate advertisement (including commercial scripts of all radio broadcasts, television broadcasts and electronic media) for examination by the Commissioner for a period of three years from the date of publication. If the exact same advertisement is used multiple times and in different media, only one copy need be retained.

42.10: Annual Reports

By March 1, each Licensee shall file an annual report with the Commissioner in such form as the Commissioner shall prescribe for the preceding calendar year. The annual report shall be in writing, subscribed by the Licensee under the pains and penalty of perjury.

42.11: Escrow Accounts

(1) All fees paid by clients or residential mortgage loan applicants, to a licensed mortgage lender or mortgage broker, shall be deposited in one or more trust accounts maintained at a federally insured bank. Said fees shall include, but not be limited to, application fees, rate-lock commitment fees, prepaid commissions or broker fees, prepaid attorney charges, and all other prepaid fees related to the mortgage loan transaction. Said account(s) shall contain only those funds collected from such clients or residential mortgage loan applicants.

(2) Such Licensee may offset funds in the trust account(s) against commissions to which it is entitled for services actually performed or for reimbursement for authorized fees paid directly to third parties. A Licensee is deemed to have performed when:

- (a) a residential mortgage loan has closed;
- (b) the client or mortgage loan applicant has withdrawn the loan application in writing; or
- (c) a loan has been denied.

All offsets shall be accounted for through written documentation evidencing the amount of offset.

(3) The Licensee shall maintain complete and accurate trust account records. The Licensee shall produce, upon request, all documents pertaining to trust account activity, including, but not limited to: bank statements, check stubs, cancelled, voided or unused checks, deposit tickets, and reconciliations or other comparable account records.

(4) No person licensed as a mortgage lender or mortgage broker shall commingle money collected for fees from clients with its own funds or use any part of a client's money in the conduct of the Licensee's business.

(5) A Licensee shall notify the Commissioner immediately of any shortage or improper or unauthorized offset to a trust account.

(6) A violation of *209 CMR 42.11* shall constitute grounds for license suspension or revocation under *M.G.L. c. 255E, §6*.

42.11A: Mortgage Loan Rate Lock Commitments (Effective September 28, 1994)

(1)(a) Prior to entering into or issuing interest rate lock commitments to any mortgage loan applicant or any other mortgage lender, except as described in *209 CMR 42.11A(2)(a)*, a mortgage lender shall have and maintain a net worth, as defined by *209 CMR 42.02* of not less than \$ 500,000 and shall be approved to sell mortgages directly to the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Government National Mortgage Association or to an institutional investor as approved by the Commissioner.

(b) A mortgage lender under *209 CMR 42.11A(1)(a)*, shall maintain a total net worth of at least 2% of the total dollar amount of pending loans for which it has issued rate lock commitments to a mortgage loan applicant or another mortgage lender at any one time, and which are not covered by a binding commitment for the sale of the mortgage loans in the secondary mortgage market. The portion of pending rate locked loans that are deemed to be covered are those loans which can be sold under an existing commitment from a mortgage lender or investor who is authorized to issue interest rate lock commitments under *209 CMR 42.11A(1)(a)*.

(c) For the purpose of *209 CMR 42.11A(1)*, the term "net worth" shall be defined as in *209 CMR 42.02* and shall exclude real property and fixed assets and shall require the value of mortgage loans held for sale and mortgage loan commitments entered into by the licensee to be adjusted to their fair market value according to generally accepted accounting principles for mark-to-market valuations.

(2)(a) Any mortgage lender who fails to meet the requirements of *209 CMR 42.11(A)(1)* is prohibited from

entering into or issuing an interest rate lock commitment to any mortgage loan applicant or any other mortgage lender without having in place, in writing, a binding interest rate guarantee or takeout commitment from an outside investor, bank or a mortgage lender or investor, who is authorized to issue interest rate lock commitments under *209 CMR 42.11A(1)*.

(b) A mortgage lender, issuing rate lock commitments under *209 CMR 42.11A(2)(a)*, shall immediately obtain another binding interest rate guarantee or takeout commitment from a mortgage lender or investor who is authorized to issue interest rate lock commitments under *209 CMR 42.11A(1)*, if said rate guarantee or commitment expires at no fault of a mortgage loan applicant or his or her agents.

(c) A mortgage lender issuing rate lock commitments under *209 CMR 42.11A(2)(a)* shall immediately, and in writing within one business day, notify the Commissioner of the expiration of a binding interest rate guarantee or takeout commitment under *209 CMR 42.11A(2)(b)*.

(3) The provisions of *209 CMR 42.11A(1)(a)* and *209 CMR 42.11A(2)(a)* shall not apply to interest rate lock commitments entered into or issued in connection with mortgage loans which are to be held for investment purposes only and are not to be sold or held for less than six months for sale into the secondary mortgage market or to other investors.

(4) Required Disclosures and Notices. Prior to taking of a rate lock commitment fee or otherwise offering or entering a mortgage loan rate lock commitment with a consumer, a mortgage lender must provide the consumer, directly or indirectly, with a mortgage loan rate lock commitment dated by the mortgage lender which incorporates the following information:

(a) Identification of property, principal amount and term of loan, locked interest rate, and rate lock commitment fees.

(b) The length of the lock-in period, which must be a time period within which the lender can reasonably expect to close the loan given the prevailing market conditions at time of lock-in; and the consequence of failing to close the loan within the lock-in period. This shall not prevent the parties from locking-in a rate that was in effect before the mortgage loan rate lock commitment was issued by the mortgage lender, provided that such rate shall not be higher than the rate that would otherwise be locked-in in the mortgage loan rate lock commitment.

(c) Whether the rate lock commitment fee is refundable, and the terms and conditions necessary to obtain the refund.

(5) A violation of *209 CMR 42.11A* shall constitute grounds for the issuance of a cease and desist order under *M.G.L. c. 255E, § 7* and shall constitute grounds for license suspension or revocation under *M.G.L. c. 255E, § 6*.

42.12: Notice of Significant Events and Proposed Change in Ownership or Personnel

(1) A Licensee shall notify the Commissioner immediately, and in writing within one business day, of the occurrence of any of the following significant developments:

(a) Filing for bankruptcy or reorganization of the Licensee.

(b) Filing of a criminal indictment any way related to the mortgage lender or brokerage activities of a Licensee, including but not limited to, the handling and/or reporting of moneys received and/or instruments sold.

(c) Receiving notification of the institution of license denial, cease and desist, suspension or revocation procedures, or other formal or informal regulatory action, in any state against the Licensee, and the reasons thereof.

(d) Receiving notification of the initiation of any action by the Attorney General of the Commonwealth or of any other state, pursuant to M.G.L. c. 93A, or any other comparable consumer protection statute, and the reasons thereof.

(e) Expiration, termination or default, technical or otherwise, of any existing line of credit or warehouse credit agreement.

(f) Suspension or termination of the Licensee's status as an approved seller or seller/servicer by the Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Government National Mortgage Association or an investor approved under 209 CMR 42.11A(1)(a).

(g) Exercise of recourse rights by investors or subsequent assignees of mortgage loans if such loans, in the aggregate, exceed the licensee's net worth exclusive of real property and fixed assets.

(h) Initiation of Trustee Process or any other form of attachment on any of the Licensee's assets.

(i) Issuance of an interest rate lock commitment in violation of 209 CMR 42.11A.

(j) Existence of negative balances, exceeding \$ 100, in any operating account at any time or the return of checks, exceeding \$ 100, for insufficient funds.

(k) Any change to net worth resulting from market valuation or future loss liability or any other change which causes the net worth of the licensee to fall below the requirements of 209 CMR 42.03, 209 CMR 42.06, 209 CMR 42.08A, and 209 CMR 42.11A(1)(a).

(l) Cancellation by the Licensee of the surety bond required pursuant to 209 CMR 42.03(2)(a)2 or 209 CMR 42.06(2)(a)2, and shall provide a new surety bond to the Commissioner. If the Licensee does not replace the surety bond, the Commissioner shall automatically suspend the license until the Licensee has provided the required bond.

Deleted: ()
Deleted:)
Deleted: ()
Deleted:)

(2) A Licensee shall notify the Commissioner immediately, and in writing within five business days, of the occurrence of any of the following significant developments:

(a) Filing for bankruptcy or reorganization of any of a Licensee's officers, directors, principal stockholders, or affiliates.

(b) Criminal felony indictment or conviction of any of a Licensee's officers, directors, principal stockholders, or affiliates.

(3)(a) 15 days prior to any proposed change in control in the ownership of a Licensee, or among the officers, partners or directors of a Licensee, a notice shall forthwith be filed with the Commissioner who may thereupon cause such investigation to be made as he deems necessary, as if it were a new license. In the case of a corporation, control is defined as a change of ownership by a person or group acting in concert to acquire ten percent of the stock, or the ability of a person or group acting in concert to elect a majority of the directors or otherwise effect a change in policy of the corporation.

(b) A notice of change in personnel or ownership shall contain the following information:

1. the name, address and occupation of each proposed officer, partner, director or shareholders; and
2. provide such other information as the Commissioner may require.

42.12A: Prohibited Acts and Practices

(1) It is a prohibited act or practice for a Licensee to make or broker a high cost mortgage loan subject to 209 CMR 32.32, which has rates, fees, terms, or features that violate:

- (a) the disclosure requirements of 209 CMR 32.32(3);
- (b) the loan limitations set forth in 209 CMR 32.32(4);
- (c) the prohibited acts and practices provisions of 209 CMR 32.34(1); or

(d) the unfair high cost loan practices provisions of *209 CMR 32.34(2)*.

(2) It is a prohibited act or practice for a person licensed as a mortgage lender to purchase or to make a high cost loan originated by a mortgage broker that violates the provisions of *209 CMR 32.32*, *209 CMR 32.34*, or *209 CMR 42.12A(1)*.

(3) It is a prohibited act or practice for a mortgage broker to issue a mortgage loan rate lock commitment on its own behalf or on behalf of a mortgage lender, or to imply to a consumer that it can lock a rate on behalf of the consumer. Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit a mortgage broker from taking a rate lock commitment fee for transmittal to a mortgage lender prior to the issuance by the mortgage lender of a commitment or approval, provided that prior to the taking of a rate lock commitment fee:

(a) the mortgage broker provides the consumer with a mortgage loan rate lock commitment from the mortgage lender which intends to make the loan, which conforms with the requirements of *209 CMR 42.11A*; and

(b) the rate lock commitment fee is made payable by the consumer to the mortgage lender which intends to make the loan. A mortgage broker may only take a rate lock commitment fee for transmittal to the mortgage lender which intends to make the loan.

Nothing herein shall prohibit a mortgage broker from negotiating the terms or conditions of a mortgage loan, including the interest rate, on behalf of a consumer. A mortgage broker may also use such forms or other evidence as desired to allow a consumer to indicate a preference to enter into a mortgage rate lock commitment with a mortgage lender. However, any such forms or evidence must clearly and conspicuously contain the following statement: "This is a request, not a commitment, to lock your interest rate with a mortgage lender".

(4) It is a prohibited act or practice for a mortgage broker to advertise any interest rate or loan term described in *209 CMR 32.24(3)(a)* in any media without the following statement: "We arrange but do not make loans". No advertisement by a mortgage broker in any media shall contain language which indicates or suggests that the mortgage broker will fund or approve a mortgage loan or guarantee any rate.

(5) It is a prohibited act or practice for a mortgage broker to fail to provide to the consumer at the time of application the loan origination and compensation agreement required under *209 CMR 42.16*. The content of the agreement shall strictly conform to *209 CMR 42.16* and include signatures and dates by the consumer(s) and the mortgage broker.

(6) It is a prohibited act or practice for a mortgage broker or mortgage lender to have a consumer sign a blank or incomplete mortgage loan application or mortgage loan documents.

(7) It is a prohibited act or practice for a mortgage broker or mortgage lender to sign a consumer's name to a mortgage loan application or mortgage loan documents on behalf of a consumer.

(8) It is a prohibited act or practice for a mortgage broker or mortgage lender to falsify income or asset information on a mortgage loan application or mortgage loan documents.

(9) It is a prohibited act or practice for a mortgage broker or mortgage lender to make false promises to influence, persuade or induce a consumer to sign a mortgage loan application or mortgage loan documents.

(10) It is a prohibited act or practice for a mortgage broker or mortgage lender to pressure or coerce a consumer to sign a mortgage loan application or mortgage loan documents by misrepresenting or omitting

42.14: Temporary Licenses

A temporary three month license may be issued and subsequently renewed by the Commissioner, at his or her discretion, to any Applicant for an original license in order to conduct an inspection under *M.G.L. c. 255E, § 8*. Said inspection shall be for the purpose of determining whether the temporary licensee is conducting its business in accordance with M.G.L. c. 255E and all other state and federal laws and regulations applicable to a mortgage lender or mortgage broker.

42.15: License Disclosure

A Licensee shall disclose the type and number of its license(s) to all clients and/or residential mortgage loan applicants in writing at the time a fee is paid or a mortgage loan application is accepted. A Licensee shall also disclose the type and number of its license(s) in all advertisements.

42.16: Loan Origination and Compensation Agreement

The Loan Origination and Compensation Agreement must be provided to the borrower at the time of application and must strictly conform to the following:

LOAN ORIGINATION AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

Mortgage Broker Name:

Massachusetts Mortgage Broker License Number:

You (the mortgage applicant) agree to enter into this Loan Origination and Compensation Agreement with ("Mortgage Broker") as an independent contractor to apply for a residential mortgage loan from a participating lender with which the Mortgage Broker, from time to time, may contract upon such terms and conditions as you may request or a lender may require.

SECTION 1. NATURE OF RELATIONSHIP. In connection with this mortgage loan:

- . The Mortgage Broker is acting as an independent contractor and not as your agent.
- . The Mortgage Broker does not approve or fund loans and can not offer or guarantee an interest rate.
- . The Mortgage Broker may enter into independent contractor agreements with various lenders.
- . While the Mortgage Broker seeks to assist you in meeting your financial needs, the Mortgage Broker does not distribute the products of all lenders or investors in the market and cannot guarantee the lowest price or best terms available in the market. The lender underwrites, approves or denies your loan application, and sets the terms and conditions for your loan. The Mortgage Broker acts only to facilitate your mortgage loan application.

SECTION 2. OUR COMPENSATION. The lenders whose loan products the Mortgage Broker distributes generally provide their loan products to the Mortgage Broker at a discounted interest rate.

- . Your interest rate, points and fees offered to you by the lender may include our compensation.

. In some cases, the Mortgage Broker's compensation may be paid by either you, or the lender, or some combination thereof. For example, in some cases, if you would rather pay a lower interest rate, you may pay higher up-front points and fees.

. Also, in some cases, if you would rather pay less money up-front, you may be able to pay some or all of our compensation indirectly through a higher interest rate in which case the Mortgage Broker will be paid directly by the lender.

. The Mortgage Broker may also be paid by the lender based on services, goods or facilities performed or provided by us to the lender.

Based on the terms and conditions of your current loan application dated , the following fees will be paid by you directly to us for services provided:

Application Fee \$

Other Broker Fee(s) \$

Third Party Appraisal Fee \$

Origination Fee \$

Other Third Party Fees \$

By signing below, applicant(s) acknowledges receipt of a copy of this signed Agreement.

MORTGAGE BROKER APPLICANT(S)

By

Print Name

Date:

Name(s)

Address

Name

Address

42.17: Implementation of Amendments to 209 CMR 42.00 et seq.

The amendments to 209 CMR 42.00 et seq., apply to any entity or individual who files an application on or after September 7, 2007. Any entity or individual licensed under General Laws chapter 255E, section 2 as of September 7, 2007, will be required to demonstrate compliance with the amendments to 209 CMR 42.03 and 209 CMR 42.06, by December 31, 2008.

REGULATORY AUTHORITY

209 CMR 42.00: M.G.L. c. 255E, § 2, St. 1991, c. 144, § 4.

Deleted: the date of promulgation of the amended regulations

Deleted: said promulgation date

Deleted: 42.00

Deleted: et seq

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Complex Script Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Justified, No widow/orphan control, Don't hyphenate